

# Legal Services Board Governance Manual

Approved by the Board on 29 November 2018



## Contents

Definitions	3
Overview	5
Role of the Chair, the Board, Board Members and Chief Executive	7
Schedule of matters reserved to the Board	11
Terms of Reference	14
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee	14
Remuneration and Nomination Committee	18
Rules of Procedure	24
Code of Practice for Board Members and Panel Members	31
Scheme of Delegations	35
Annex A	43
The Seven Principles of Public Life	43
Annex B	44
Policy on Complaints and Disciplinary Procedure for Individual Members	44
Policy on Interests	48
Policy on Reimbursement of Expenses	52
Policy on Gifts and Hospitality	56
Policy on Internal Whistleblowing	58
Policy on Handling External Allegations	64



#### **Definitions**

Unless the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply:

Act means Legal Services Act 2007

**Board** and **Board Members** means the members of the Board of the LSB (which for the avoidance of doubt includes the Chief Executive), appointed in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to the Act

**Board Secretary** means the colleague appointed as Corporate Governance Manager who acts as secretary to the Board

**Chair** means the person appointed by the Lord Chancellor as the Chair of the LSB, in accordance with paragraphs 1-2 of Schedule 1 to the Act

**Chief Executive** means the person appointed by the Board as the Chief Executive of the LSB, in accordance with paragraph 13 of Schedule 1 to the Act

**Colleague** means a member of staff of the LSB, appointed in accordance with paragraph 14 of Schedule 1 to the Act

**Committee** means a committee of the Board established under paragraph 20 of Schedule 1 to the Act

Committee Chair means a Chair of a committee

Committee Member means a member of a committee

**The LSB** means the independent oversight regulator of the legal professions in England and Wales, a body corporate established by section 2 of the Act

Meeting means a meeting of the Board

MoJ means the Ministry of Justice

Ordinary Board Member means a Board Member other than the Chief Executive

**OLC** means Office for Legal Complaints in accordance with section 114 of the Act.

**OLC Members** means members appointed to the OLC in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 15 of the Act

**The Panel** means the Legal Services Consumer Panel established by the Legal Services Board in accordance with section 8 of the Legal Services Act

**Panel Members** means persons appointed to The Panel to represent the interest of consumers in accordance with section 8 of the Legal Services Act

**Senior Leadership Team (SLT)** means the senior management team of the LSB, comprising the following: Chief Executive, Strategy Director, Policy Director, Director of Finance and Services, General Counsel, Head of Corporate Services, and Head of Policy

Development and Research. The SLT provides oversight of the LSB's strategic and business plans, and enables discussion of planned and emerging policy issues

**Subcommittee** means a subcommittee of a committee established under paragraph 20 of Schedule 1 to the Act

Subcommittee Chair means a Chair of a subcommittee

Subcommittee Member means a member of a subcommittee

References to any statute or statutory provisions include a reference to that statute or statutory provision as from time to time modified or re-enacted

All generalised references to the male gender should be read as equally applicable to the female gender, and vice versa

Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular include the plural, and vice versa



#### Overview

#### Aim

- The LSB is a non-departmental public body established under the Legal Services Act 2007 and is responsible for overseeing all approved regulators of legal services in England and Wales. It is independent of Government and of the legal profession and also oversees the OLC. The LSB is not a Prescribed Regulator under the provisions inserted into the Employment Rights Act 1996 (ERA) by the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA).
- 2. The LSB Framework Document provides that: 'The overall aim of the LSB is to contribute to the reform and modernisation of the legal services market place in the interests of consumers, enhancing quality, and ensuring value for money and improving access to justice across England and Wales.'

## **Accountability to Parliament**

- 3. The LSB is accountable through the Lord Chancellor to Parliament.
- 4. The LSB must present in respect of each financial year an annual report to the Lord Chancellor, who must then lay it before Parliament. The annual report is subject to audit by the National Audit Office.
- 5. The LSB must provide Parliament with such information as may be requested in respect of its actions and policy decisions. The LSB might be required to give evidence to Select Committees.

#### Relationship with Government / sponsor department

- 6. The LSB is sponsored by the MoJ. The principles, strategic framework and financial accountabilities for how the relationship between the LSB and the MoJ will operate is set out in the LSB Framework Document.
- 7. The Lord Chancellor (in consultation with the Lord Chief Justice) is responsible for appointing a lay Chair and at least seven, but not more than 10, additional ordinary Board Members (a majority of whom must be lay persons). The Lord Chancellor (in consultation with the Lord Chief Justice and, unless the Chair is the Board Member in question, the Chair) may also remove an ordinary Board Member, but only in accordance with the Act.
- 8. Communications between the LSB and the Lord Chancellor will normally be through the Chair or the Chief Executive. However, a Board Member may, if it is thought necessary, seek access to Ministers on any matter that they believe raises important issues relating to his or her duties as a Board Member. In such cases, the agreement of the Board should normally be sought.

- 9. Communications between the LSB and the MoJ about day-to-day matters will normally be through the Chief Executive or the Head of Corporate Services.
- 10. Although the LSB is accountable through the Lord Chancellor to Parliament, other than the specific cases set out in the Act where the Lord Chancellor has power to direct the LSB, the LSB is independent of government. While it is appropriate for the LSB to take account of the views of Ministers, it would be improper for the LSB to direct its actions purely on that basis.



## Role of the Chair, the Board, Board Members and Chief Executive

#### Role of the Chair

- 1. The Chair, on the advice of the Chief Executive, has particular responsibility for providing strategic leadership on matters such as:
  - the formulation of the LSB's strategy for discharging its statutory duties;
  - representing the views of the LSB to consumers, other stakeholders and the wider public, and vice versa;
  - ensuring that the Board, in reaching its decisions, takes proper account of directions or guidance given by the Lord Chancellor or the MoJ;
  - encouraging high standards of propriety, and ensuring compliance with the Seven Principles of Public Life across the organisation;
  - promoting generally accepted principles of good corporate governance;
  - promoting the effective and efficient use of resources; and
  - providing an annual assessment of the performance of the Board, Board Members, the OLC Chair and the Panel Chair.
- 2. The Chair (in consultation with the Head of Corporate Services) will ensure that the Board meets and operates in accordance with the Rules of Procedure.
- 3. The Chair will ensure that new Board Members receive on their appointment a full induction about both their roles and the LSB.
- 4. The Chair is able to observe meetings of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee once per year.

#### Role of the Board

- 5. The Board's responsibilities include:
  - ensuring that the LSB complies with the Act and any supplementary legislation or Orders thereto, other legislation, and any statutory or administrative requirements in respect of the use of public funds;
  - ensuring that the LSB operates within the limits of its statutory authority and any delegated authority agreed with MoJ;
  - agreeing the overall strategic direction of the LSB and the policy and resource framework for the delivery of that strategy;

- developing and monitoring and reporting performance against an annual business plan and agreed performance indicators;
- agreeing and overseeing the implementation of a strategy to manage risk; and
- ensuring that generally accepted principles of good corporate governance are observed at all times.
- 6. The Board's responsibilities in respect of the LSB's role as an employer include:
  - complying with all relevant legislation and employing suitably qualified colleagues who will discharge their responsibilities to the highest of standards;
  - ensuring that the LSB adopts management practices that use resources in the most economic, effective and efficient manner;
  - creating through recruitment and management procedures an inclusive culture in which diversity and equality is fully valued and where appointment and advancement is based on merit:
  - assessing and monitoring the LSB's culture and colleague morale and seeking assurance that the executive has taken corrective action where necessary;
  - ensuring that the structure, level and number of colleagues is appropriate to its functions and the requirements for value for money;
  - ensuring that a fair and effective remuneration policy and performance management system is in place;
  - ensuring proper consultation with colleagues on all matters affecting them;
  - ensuring that relevant policies are adopted, including in respect of whistleblowing, grievances and disciplinary procedures; and
  - ensuring that colleagues and Board Members have appropriate access to expert advice and training and development opportunities to enable them to exercise their responsibilities effectively.
- 7. Board Members' individual responsibilities include:
  - attending and participating fully at meetings, thereby contributing to the formulation of strategy and policy, including providing constructive challenge to the Executive;
  - contributing as necessary to the early stages of policy formulation and project development in collaboration with colleagues;
  - complying with the principles of collective responsibility, support and respect;
  - conducting themselves in a manner that is consistent with the authority and standing of their role;
  - leading by example and promoting the LSB's culture and behaviours;

- representing the LSB externally, as required;
- complying with the LSB's policies and procedures set out in this Governance Manual and other rules relating to the use of public funds; and
- participating in the annual Board evaluation and Board Member appraisal processes.

## **Role of the Senior Independent Director**

- 8. The Senior Independent Director's responsibilities include:
  - acting as sounding board for the Chair in any matter which the Chair may determine appropriate;
  - acting as a trusted intermediary when necessary between the Chair and other Board Members, including the Chief Executive;
  - being available to stakeholders if they have concerns which contact through the normal channels of the Chair or Chief Executive have failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate;
  - convening and chairing (once annually, as a minimum) a meeting of the Board without the Chair present to facilitate feedback to inform the annual appraisal of the Chair and on such occasions as are deemed appropriate;
  - acting as a last resort internal contact point for whistle blowers who feel unable to raise concerns through such channels as are set out in the Policy on Internal Whistleblowing; and
  - reporting to the Board annually on the fulfilment of the responsibilities of the Senior Independent Director.
- 9. The term of office will be two years with the possibility of renewal for a further two years subject to Board approval. The maximum term of office will be four years
- 10. Appointment or removal from office is a decision reserved to the Chair.

#### **Role of the Chief Executive**

- 11. The Chief Executive, who will also be a Board Member, has responsibility for the operational management, resourcing and financial and other procedures of the LSB.
- 12. The Chief Executive is also the Accounting Officer of the LSB, responsible personally for the resources under their control to Parliament and to the Accounting Officer of the MoJ. This includes responsibility for:
  - the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which they are answerable;
  - the keeping of proper accounts;
  - prudent and economical administration;

- the avoidance of waste and extravagance;
- the effective and efficient use of all resources in his or her charge; and
- ensuring that appropriate advice in respect of these matters is tendered to the Board.

## Delegation

13. Responsibility for certain matters are delegated as specified within this Governance Manual.



#### Schedule of matters reserved to the Board

## 1 Regulation and control

- 1.1 Approving the delegation of any of the Board's powers to the Chief Executive<sup>1</sup>.
- 1.2 Approving the Board's own rules of procedure<sup>2</sup>.
- 1.3 Approving all proposed expenditure above £250k.
- 1.4 Approving bids for expenditure above the authorised limits to the MoJ.
- 1.5 Approving the instigation or defence of legal proceedings or threatened proceedings.
- 1.6 Approving the minutes of Board meetings.
- 1.7 Authorising the affixing of the LSB seal<sup>3</sup>.

## 2 Appointments

- 2.1 Appointing and dismissing Committees and Subcommittees<sup>4</sup>.
- 2.2 Approving and amending the Terms of Reference of Committees and Subcommittees<sup>5</sup>.
- 2.3 Appointing, dismissing and consenting to the terms and conditions of service of the Chief Executive and any variations<sup>6</sup>.
- 2.4 Approving the Terms of Reference of the Panel.
- 2.5 Appointing, removing and approving the terms and conditions of appointment of the Chair and Members of the Panel<sup>7</sup>.
- 2.6 Appointing, removing and approving the terms and conditions of appointment of the Chair and Members of the OLC<sup>8</sup>.
- 2.7 Appointing, dismissing and approving the remuneration of the internal auditor.
- 2.8 Appointing, removing and approving the terms and conditions of appointment of special advisers to the Board.

## 3 Strategy, business plan and budget

- 3.1 Approving the LSB's strategy.
- 3.2 Approving the LSB's business plan (including the budget as considered by the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee). This includes approval of the LSB's research strategy and annual plan.

#### 4 Risk management

- 4.1 Approving the LSB's strategy and procedures for the management of risk.
- 4.2 Approving the LSB's Corporate Risk Register.
- 4.3 Approving the LSB's strategy and procedures for the management of health and safety.

#### 5 Operational decisions

- 5.1 Approving in principle the proposed response to an external consultation.
- 5.2 Approving the instigation of enforcement action under sections 31 to 48 of the Act.
- 5.3 Approving the content and exact form and words of rules (including Statutory Instruments) that must or may be made under the Act, including in relation to the Levy.

- 5.4 Approving recommendations to the Lord Chancellor about:
  - the addition or the removal of a reserved legal activity<sup>9</sup>,
  - the designation or the cancellation of a designation as an approved regulator<sup>10</sup> and/or a licensing authority<sup>11</sup>,
  - the modification of the functions of an approved regulator<sup>12</sup>,
  - the ending of the transitional period<sup>13</sup>,
  - the ending of transitional protection for non-commercial bodies<sup>14</sup>,
  - the establishment of an appellate body<sup>15</sup>,
  - the carrying on of a reserved legal activity<sup>16</sup>,
  - the designation of the Board as an approved regulator<sup>17</sup>,
  - the designation of the Board as a licensing authority, or
  - exempt persons<sup>18</sup>.
- 5.5 Approving the process for considering requests to alter the regulatory arrangements of approved regulators and the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal.
- 5.6 Approving policy statements (including variations)<sup>19</sup>.
- 5.7 Approving Guidance (including variations)<sup>20</sup>.
- 5.8 Agreeing to impose, and the amount of, a financial penalty.
- 5.9 Approving the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal's annual budget.
- 5.10 Approving any recommendation in whole or in part to refuse a rule change, so that the Board corporately can assure itself on matters of policy substance and legal risk.

#### 6 The Panel

- 6.1 Endorsing the Panel's annual work programme.
- 6.2 Considering any representations made to it by the Panel<sup>21</sup>.
- 6.3 Approving any notice setting out the reason(s) for its disagreement with any representations made to it by the Panel<sup>22</sup>.
- 6.4 Requesting and considering advice or research from the Panel<sup>23</sup>.

#### 7 The OLC

- 7.1 Approving the OLC's annual budget<sup>24</sup>.
- 7.2 Receiving and presenting the OLC's annual report to the Lord Chancellor<sup>25</sup>.
- 7.3 Receiving and presenting the OLC's statement of accounts to the Lord Chancellor and the Comptroller and Auditor General<sup>26</sup>.
- 7.4 Directing the OLC to prepare and to give the LSB a report in respect of any OLC function<sup>27</sup>.
- 7.5 Approving OLC performance targets (including directing the OLC to set performance targets)<sup>28</sup>.
- 7.6 Approving recommendations made under s130 of the Act to the Lord Chancellor (in respect of Orders under s128 of the Act)<sup>29</sup>.
- 7.7 Approving recommendations made under s139 of the Act to the Lord Chancellor (in respect of limitation on value of directions under the Ombudsman Scheme)<sup>30</sup>.
- 7.8 Consenting to the OLC's Scheme Rules (including directing the OLC to modify its Scheme Rules)<sup>31</sup>.

#### 8 Financial and performance reporting arrangements

- 8.1 Appraising continuously the LSB's affairs by means of the receipt of reports as it sees fit from Committees, Subcommittees and colleagues.
- 8.2 Overseeing the effective executive management of the LSB.
- 8.3 Approving the LSB Framework Agreement.
- 8.4 Approving the LSB's annual report<sup>32</sup>.

- 8.5 Approving and presenting the LSB's statement of accounts to the Lord Chancellor and the Comptroller and Auditor General<sup>33</sup>.
- 8.6 Approving the LSB's Finance Regulations and finance policies (including in respect of expenses and corporate gifts and hospitality).
- 8.7 Approving the LSB's performance targets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Paragraph 23 of Schedule 1 to Legal Services Act 2007 ('the Act').

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ibid., para. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The LSB seal can only be used with the Board's authority, so there needs to be a Board decision reflected in the minutes of the relevant meeting. The affixing of the LSB seal can be undertaken by the Chair or CEO or their nominee (refer to Scheme of Delegations).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Ibid.*, para. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Ibid.*, para 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Ibid.*, para 13 and 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Chair and Members of the Panel are appointed and may be removed only with the approval of the Lord Chancellor (*Ibid.*, section 8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Chair of the OLC is appointed and may be removed only with the approval of the Lord Chancellor and the Members of the OLC are appointed any may be removed only after consultation with the Chair of the OLC (*Ibid.*, Schd. 15, para. 1 and 8). <sup>9</sup> *Ibid.*, ss. 24 and 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> *Ibid.*, s20, Schd. 4 and s45. <sup>11</sup> *Ibid.*, s74, Schd. 10 and s76.

<sup>12</sup> Ibid., s69.

<sup>13</sup> Ibid., Schd. 5, Part 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Ibid.*, s23.

<sup>15</sup> Ibid., s80.

<sup>16</sup> Ibid., s15.

<sup>17</sup> Ibid., s62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Ibid.*, Schd. 3, para. 9.

<sup>19</sup> Ibid., s49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Ibid., s162.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *Ibid.*, s10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Ibid.*, s10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Ibid.*, s11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Ibid.*, Schd. 15, para. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Ibid., s118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Ibid.*, Schd. 15, para. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Ibid., s120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Ibid., s121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Ibid., s130.

<sup>30</sup> Ibid., s139. 31 Ibid., ss155-156.

<sup>32</sup> Ibid., s6.

<sup>33</sup> Ibid., Schd. 1, para. 25.



## Terms of Reference<sup>34</sup>

## **Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC)**

## Responsibilities

- 1. The Board has established an Audit and Risk Assurance Committee<sup>35</sup> to review and to offer its views about such matters as may be referred to it by the Board or the Accounting Officer or such other relevant matters as the Committee may determine, in accordance with these Terms of Reference<sup>36</sup>.
- 2. These matters may include, but are not limited to:
  - risk management, financial and other controls, and the Governance Statement;
  - considering and scrutinising a draft of the annual budget of the LSB;
  - the accounting policies, the accounts and the annual report of the LSB, including the process for reviewing the accounts prior to submission for audit, levels of error identified and management's letter of representation to the external auditor;
  - proposals for tendering for internal audit services or for the purchase of non-audit services from contractors who provide audit services;
  - the planned activity and results of both internal and external audit;
  - the adequacy of management's response to issues identified by audit activity, including the external auditor's management letter;
  - assurances offered by the Executive relating to the corporate governance requirements for the LSB;
  - an annual review of Board Members' and senior colleagues' expenses;
  - anti-fraud policies, whistle-blowing processes and arrangements for special investigations; and
  - the outcomes of its periodic reviews of its own effectiveness and these terms of reference.

#### **Authorities**

- 3. The Committee is authorised by the Board to:
  - investigate any activity or topic covered by these Terms of Reference;
  - request any information it requires from the colleagues, all of whom are directed to co-operate with any request for such information;

- obtain at the expense of the LSB, external financial, legal or other independent professional advice or training, subject to budgets agreed by the Board; and
- appoint, remove and approve the terms and conditions of appointment of professional advisers to the Committee.

## Membership

- 4. The Committee and its Chair will be appointed by the Board from amongst its ordinary, non-executive Members<sup>37</sup> and the period of appointment to the Committee shall be agreed by the Chair of the Board.
- 5. A majority of the Committee's Members will be lay persons<sup>38</sup>.
- 6. The Chair of the Board may not be a member of the Committee.
- 7. The Chair of the Committee may not also be the Chair of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

#### **Access**

8. The internal and external auditors will have free and confidential access to the Chair of the Committee.

## Meetings

- 9. The Committee will meet at least three times a year.
- 10. The quorum for a meeting of the Committee will be three Members<sup>39</sup>, attending in person or, in exceptional circumstances, by telephone or video-conferencing facility and decisions may be made or ratified following a suitable exchange of correspondence, either electronically or in hard copy.
- 11. A lay majority is required for all decisions. Where a meeting is not quorate it will nevertheless go ahead, with decisions to be ratified via correspondence, at the next meeting of the Committee or the full Board as appropriate.
- 12. Where necessary, in order to make sure that Committee members are aware of the nuance of a particular debate, a resolution may be circulated to all Committee members after a meeting and a decision taken by email. A decision might be delayed to a subsequent meeting where there is any doubt as to the decision taken.
- 13. The Accounting Officer, Head of Corporate Services, the Director of Finance and Services and normally not more than two representatives of each of the internal and external auditors will attend meetings of the Committee. The Board Chair shall attend no more than one ARAC meeting in each year as an observer, thus strengthening the independence of the Committee. Board Members will have a standing invitation to attend meetings of the Committee, and will receive a full set of Committee papers prior to each meeting. Other colleagues will attend meetings at the invitation or direction of the Committee or the Accounting Officer.

- 14. The Committee will have the right to direct those attending a meeting to withdraw to facilitate the open and frank discussion of particular matters. The Committee may direct all colleagues to withdraw during private discussions with either or both the internal and external auditors.
- 15. A Board Member or the internal and external auditors may request the Chair of the Committee to convene an additional meeting of the Committee.
- 16. The Corporate Governance Manager, in the capacity of Board Secretary, will be secretary to the Committee. Draft minutes of each meeting will be circulated by the Corporate Governance Manager within five working days of each meeting.

## Reporting to the Board

- 17. The minutes and papers of each meeting of the Committee will be circulated to the Board
- 18. The Chair of the Committee will present a written or oral report about each meeting of the Committee to the next appropriate meeting of the Board.
- 19. The Chair of the Committee will produce and present to the Board on an annual basis a report summarising the activities of the Committee and the outcomes of its work. This report will be presented to the meeting of the Board that is scheduled to consider and agree the LSB's Annual Report and Accounts for the preceding financial year.

## Annual review of remit and performance

20. The Committee will assess its effectiveness, and will also review these Terms of Reference, annually. It will submit recommendations for any proposed changes to the Board for approval. The Committee's duties and activities shall be disclosed in the LSB's Annual Report and Accounts.

## **Annex**

ITEMS Standing items	Mov	Oot	Mor
Standing items	May	Oct	Mar
Approval of previous minutes	<u> </u>	V	1
Matters arising and outstanding action points	<u> </u>	V	1
Any other business	<b>√</b>	ν	<b>1</b>
Agenda items	1	1	,
Corporate risk register	√	V	V
Budget proposal for the next financial year		V	,
Budget update for the next financial year			V
LSB annual report and accounts for the previous	$\sqrt{}$		
financial year - draft			
LSB annual report and accounts for the current			
financial year - update			
LSB annual report on expenses for the previous	$\sqrt{}$		
financial year			
Internal audit report for the previous financial year	$\sqrt{}$		
Internal audit plan for the current financial year		V	
Internal audit update			V
NAO external audit report: completion report for the	V		
previous financial year and management letter			
NAO external audit update: lessons learnt from the		V	
previous years' audit and changes to guidance and			
issues that may affect the LSB for the current			
financial year audit			
NAO external audit planning report for current			V
financial year			
LSB Governance Manual annual review		V	
LSB risk management strategy annual review		V	
Assurance mapping		V	
ARAC annual report - draft	V		
Review of the effectiveness of ARAC			V

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> *Ibid.*, Schedule 1, para. 21.

<sup>35</sup> Legal Services Act 2007, Schedule 1, para. 20(1).

<sup>36</sup> *Ibid.*, para. 21.

<sup>37</sup> *Ibid.*, para. 20(3), restricts the membership of the Committee only to Board Members.

<sup>38</sup> *Ibid.*, para. 20(4).

<sup>39</sup> *Ibid.*, para. 21(2).



## Terms of Reference<sup>40</sup>

## **Remuneration and Nomination Committee (RNC)**

## Responsibilities

- 1. The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee<sup>41</sup> to consider (and, where appropriate, to agree) such matters as may be referred to it by the Board or the Chief Executive or such other relevant matters as the Committee may determine, in accordance with these Terms of Reference<sup>42</sup>.
- 2. These matters may include but are not limited to:

#### In respect of Remuneration (executive terms and conditions)

- To review and advise the Board on the terms and conditions of service, including remuneration, pensions, benefits and allowances, of the Chief Executive.
- To decide and review the terms and conditions of service, including remuneration, pensions, benefits and allowances of the Chief Executive's director reports ('Executive Group'), and of any other colleague(s) as agreed between the Chair of the Committee and the Chief Executive<sup>43</sup>.
- To oversee the process for determining the terms and conditions of employment, including remuneration, benefits and pensions of all colleagues.
- To oversee the process for determining the terms and conditions of all other appointments, including in relation to the Panel<sup>44</sup> and the OLC<sup>45</sup>, but excluding ordinary Board Members<sup>46</sup>.
- To advise the Chair on issues relating to the terms and conditions of ordinary Board Members for onward discussion with the MoJ.
- To ensure that no person shall be involved in any decisions on their own remuneration.
- To review and approve any amendments to pay strategy (including any proposals for linking reward to performance for colleagues), bandings and progression arrangements.

## In respect of other executive employment matters

- To review annually the equality and diversity trends across the LSB.
- To comment on major management decisions and HR policies likely to have a significant impact on the LSB's budget, workforce, culture or performance (for example, any plans for new senior management posts).
- To monitor and evaluate at a strategic level and on an exception basis the impact of the LSB's HR policies.

• To review periodically the design of the objective-setting and appraisal process, and to assess how it has operated in practice.

## In respect of Nomination

#### The LSB executives

 To oversee and review the talent management strategy and succession planning for those colleagues<sup>47</sup> as agreed between the Chair of the Committee and the Chief Executive.

#### The LSB non-executives

- To review regularly the structure, size and composition of the Board, including members' skills, knowledge and experience.
- To consider the succession plan for the Board periodically so as to assist the Chair
  of the Board in advising the MoJ, as required, on plans for identifying and
  nominating non-executive members (including the Chair of the Board) to fill Board
  vacancies as and when they arise.
- To monitor and review the induction process for Board Members.
- In addition, to assist the Chair of the Board in making said recommendation should a situation arise where the Board wishes to recommend to the Lord Chancellor that consideration be given to the appointment of an Executive colleague to the Board.

#### The OLC and the Panel non-executives

- To review regularly the structure, size and composition of the OLC and the Panel, including members' skills, knowledge and experience.
- To consider the succession plans for the OLC and the Panel periodically.
- To approve, on the Board's behalf, plans for identifying and nominating nonexecutive members (including the Chair of the OLC and the Chair of the Panel) to fill OLC and Panel vacancies as and when they arise.
- Making recommendations as to the composition of the recruitment panel, giving due consideration to the views of the appropriate Chair (OLC or Panel) and other relevant parties as appropriate.
- To consider reports from the relevant Chair on the evaluation of the performance of OLC and Panel Members annually, via the Chair of the LSB, and to make recommendations to the Board on re-appointments where appropriate.
- Overseeing that on appointment to the Panel, members receive an appropriate induction.

#### General

- 3. The Committee shall make whatever recommendations to the Board it deems appropriate on any area within its remit. For the avoidance of doubt, this includes advice on matters where action or improvement is needed including:
  - on specific issues where the Board is the decision taker; and
  - on matters delegated to the Chief Executive where there is a substantive difference of view.

## **Authority**

- 4. The Committee is authorised by the Board to:
  - investigate any activity or topic covered by these Terms of Reference;
  - request any information it requires from the colleagues, all of whom are directed to co-operate with any request for such information;
  - obtain at the expense of the LSB, external financial, legal or other independent professional advice or training, subject to budgets agreed by the Board; and
  - appoint, remove and approve the terms and conditions of appointment of professional advisers to the Committee.

### Membership

- 5. The Committee and its Chair will be appointed by the Board from amongst its ordinary, non-executive Members<sup>48</sup> and the period of appointment to the Committee shall be agreed by the Chair of the Board.
- 6. A majority of the Committee's Members will be lay persons<sup>49</sup>.
- 7. The Chair of the Board may not be a member of the Committee.
- 8. The Chair of the Committee may not also be the Chair of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee.

#### **Access**

9. The internal and external auditors will have free and confidential access to the Chair of the Committee.

## Meetings

- 10. The Committee will meet at least two times a year.
- 11. The quorum of the Committee shall be at least three members<sup>50</sup> attending in person or, in exceptional circumstances, by telephone or video-conferencing facility, and decisions may be made or ratified following a suitable exchange of correspondence, either electronically or in hard copy.

- 12. A lay<sup>51</sup> majority is required for all decisions. Where a meeting is not quorate it will nevertheless go ahead, with decisions to be ratified via correspondence, at the next meeting of the Committee or the full Board, as appropriate.
- 13. Where necessary, in order to make sure that Committee members are aware of the nuance of a particular debate, a resolution may be circulated to all Committee members after a meeting and a decision taken by email. A decision might be delayed to a subsequent meeting where there is any doubt as to the decision taken.
- 14. The Board Chair may attend the Committee when matters of nomination are discussed. Except in relation to nominations, the Board Chair shall attend no more than one RNC meeting in each year, thus strengthening the independence of the Committee. Whilst Committee members, including the Committee Chair, may participate in discussions about their succession, they must not make decisions in relation to their own position or succession. This also applies to the Chair of the Board, if they are in attendance.
- 15. The Accounting Officer, Head of Corporate Services and Human Resources Manager will attend meetings of the Committee. Other attendees, for example the Chairs of the OLC and the Panel, the Director of Finance and Services and colleagues may attend as required to assist the Committee on specific issues.
- 16. The Corporate Governance Manager, in the capacity of Board Secretary, will be secretary to the Committee. Draft minutes of each meeting will be circulated by the Corporate Governance Manager within five working days of each meetings. The annual cycle of meetings is set out in Annex.

## Reporting to the Board

- 17. The minutes of each Committee meeting will be circulated to all members of the Board.
- 18. The Chair will produce and present to the Board on an annual basis a report summarising the activities of the Committee and the outcomes of its work. This report will be presented to the meeting of the Board that is scheduled to consider and agree the LSB's Annual Report and Accounts for the preceding financial year.

#### Communication

- 19. Communication between the Committee and the colleagues will be led by the Chief Executive; communications between the Committee and the Board will be led by the Chair of the Committee.
- 20. The Chief Executive will determine the appropriate level of engagement with the colleagues<sup>52</sup> both prior to and following presentation of matters to the Committee and will provide details to members at the time matters are presented.

## **Conflict of Interest**

21. A Committee member or attendee who becomes aware of a potential conflict of interest relating to matters being discussed by the Committee should give prior notification to the Chair or, if this is not possible, declare this at the meeting and – where necessary – withdraw during discussion of the relevant agenda item.

## Confidentiality

- 22. Decisions on matters relating to Board Members, Committee advisors, the Panel and the OLC will generally remain wholly confidential to the Committee and executive attendees.
- 23. Decisions on matters relating to individuals' remuneration will generally remain wholly confidential to the Committee and relevant executive attendees (executives will not attend for discussions relating to their own remuneration).
- 24. The Committee shall operate on the basis that matters it discusses are confidential to the Committee. Papers will clarify the status and next steps on any necessary communication.

## Annual review of remit and performance

25. The Committee will assess its effectiveness, and will also review these Terms of Reference, annually. It will submit recommendations for any proposed changes to the Board for approval. The Committee's duties and activities shall be disclosed in the LSB's Annual Report and Accounts.

#### Annex

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE ANNUAL CYCLE OF				
AGENDA ITEMS				
Standing items	Feb	July		
Approval of previous minutes				
Matters arising and outstanding action points				
Review of Board, OLC and Panel succession		V		
planning				
Any other business				
Agenda items				
Review terms and conditions of service, including				
remuneration, pensions, benefits and allowances				
Review of remuneration and resourcing trends				
across the LSB, including sickness absence				
Review of pensions governance	V			
Review of staff performance assessment process				
and performance related pay scheme				
Annual remuneration review		V		
Annual report on equality, diversity and				
accessibility				
HR policy review (as required)		V		
Talent management strategy and executive				
succession plan				
Committee Annual Report – for approval	1			
Annual RNC performance self-assessment and				
review of Committee Terms of Reference				

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Ibid.*, Schedule 1, para. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Legal Services Act 2007, Schedule 1, para. 20(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> *Ibid.*, Schedule 1, para. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> *Ibid.*, Schedule 1, para. 15-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> *Ibid.*, Section 8(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> *Ibid.*, Schedule 15, para. 10-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Ibid.*, Schedule 1, para. 1(2), defines 'ordinary' Board Members.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Executive employees of the LSB

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Ibid.*, para. 20(3), restricts the membership of the Committee only to Board Members.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> *Ibid.*, para. 20(4).

 <sup>50</sup> *Ibid.*, Schedule 1, para. 21(2)
 51 *Ibid.*, Schedule 1, para. 20(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> The expectation is of some form of discussion – at the most appropriate stage - on matters that are likely to make a material difference to working conditions, morale and the colleagues' commitment to the organisation. This will be in line with the LSB's Colleague Forum and Communication Policy



#### **Rules of Procedure**

#### 1. Introduction

1.1 In the exercise of its powers under paragraph 21 of Schedule 1 to the Act, the LSB has made these Rules of Procedure ('Rules') to regulate its procedures and those of its committees and subcommittees.

#### 2. Statutory framework

- 2.1 The constitution and proceedings of the LSB are governed by section 2 of, and Schedule 1 to, the Act.
- 2.2 Paragraph 21 of Schedule 1 to the Act provides that the Board may regulate its procedure and those of its committees and subcommittees.

#### 3. Meetings and proceedings of the Board

### 3.1 Meetings of the Board

- 3.1.1 The Board shall hold meetings at such regular intervals as may be determined by the Board.
- 3.1.2 The Board may invite any person to attend all or any part of a Meeting.
- 3.1.3 Meetings will normally be held at the offices of the LSB, but may take place at any other convenient location.
- 3.1.4 Board Members are expected to attend not less than 75 percent of the Meetings in any 12 month period.

## 3.2 Meetings - agenda and papers

- 3.2.1 In normal circumstances, the agenda and papers for a Meeting will be circulated to Board Members (and such other persons as might be agreed from time to time) five working days in advance of the Meeting. The non-receipt of papers by any Board Member shall not invalidate the business transacted at a Meeting.
- 3.2.2 The order of business at a Meeting shall follow the agenda issued in respect of that Meeting, unless otherwise directed by the Chair.
- 3.2.3 Papers may only be tabled at a Meeting with the prior permission of the Chair. Prior to being dispatched, the Chair may review papers at their discretion.
- 3.2.4 No business other than that on the agenda issued in respect of a Meeting may be taken, unless otherwise directed by the Chair.

3.2.5 Subject to the LSB's responsibilities under Freedom of Information Act 2000, the papers of Meetings are confidential and should not be left unattended. Board Members should report lost or misplaced papers immediately to the Corporate Governance Manager.

## 3.3 Power to call meetings of the Board

- 3.3.1 Where in the opinion of the Chair, an urgent matter has arisen, the Chair may call a Meeting.
- 3.3.2 Where two or more Board Members submit a request for a Meeting to the Chair, the Chair shall call a Meeting as soon as practicable.

## 3.4 Notice of Meetings

- 3.4.1 Board Members will be notified as soon as practicable of the dates of all meetings of the Board.
- 3.4.2 The non-receipt of a notice of a Meeting by any Board Member shall not invalidate the business transacted at a Meeting.

#### 3.5 Chairing of Meetings

- 3.5.1 The Chair shall, if present, preside at all Meetings.
- 3.5.2 In the absence of the Chair, the lay Board Member nominated by the Chair (or, if they are unavailable, nominated by the Board) shall preside.
- 3.5.3 The procedure at Meetings shall be determined by the Chair, in accordance with these Rules (and in consultation with the Board Secretary).

#### 3.6 Procedure at Meetings

- 3.6.1 Subject to these Rules, Board Members may meet together for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their Meetings as they think fit.
- 3.6.2 The Chair shall:
  - preserve order and ensure that all Board Members have sufficient opportunity to express their views on all matters under discussion;
  - determine all matters of order, competency and relevancy;
  - determine in which order those present shall speak; and
  - determine whether or not a vote is required.
- 3.6.3 Papers shall be taken as read and questions shall be directed to the relevant executive colleague, unless otherwise directed by the Chair.
- 3.6.4 In the event that a Board Member is unable to attend a meeting, they will provide written comments on the agenda items ahead of the meeting. These will be read out at the appropriate point in the Meeting by the Chair or the Head of Corporate Services.

- 3.6.5 Decisions of the Board will normally be made by consensus. Failing consensus, decisions shall be reached by means of a vote when:
  - the Chair believes that there are Board Members present at the Meeting who disagree with a proposal;
  - when a Board Member who is present requests a vote to be taken; or
  - the Chair considers that a vote should be taken.
- 3.6.6 Where a vote is taken, the proposal shall be determined by a majority of the votes of the Board Members present and voting on the question. The Chair shall declare whether or not a resolution has been carried.
- 3.6.7 In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair shall have a second, casting vote.
- 3.6.8 The minutes of the meeting will normally record only the numerical result of a vote, showing the numbers for and against the proposal and noting any abstentions. A Board Member may require that their particular vote be recorded in the minutes.
- 3.6.9 The Board may agree to defer a decision on a proposal to a later date. The decision to defer, together with the reasons for doing so, shall be recorded in the minutes of the Meeting.
- 3.6.10 Any agreement to delegate the decision on a proposal under paragraph 23 of Schedule 1 to the Act shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

## 3.7 Quorum of the Board

- 3.7.1 The quorum for a Meeting shall be the higher of three or one-third of the number of Board Members, comprised of a majority of lay Board Members, save for circumstances where by reason of a vacancy the Board is not capable of having a lay majority.
- 3.7.2 Meetings will usually be convened in person. In exceptional circumstances, Meetings might be convened wholly or partly by telephone or video-conferencing facility, and decisions may also be made or ratified following a suitable exchange of correspondence, either electronically or in hard copy. In such circumstances participating Board Members shall be deemed to be present at the Meeting. The provisions of these Rules in respect of Meetings (including quorum) shall apply.
- 3.7.3 Where a meeting of the Board:
  - is not quorate within 30 minutes from the time appointed for the meeting; or
  - becomes inquorate during the course of the meeting,
     then the meeting shall either:
  - be adjourned to such time, place and date as may be determined by the Board Members present; or
  - continue informally with a requirement that any decisions will require ratification following a suitable exchange of correspondence either electronically or in hard copy following the meeting. Such decisions must also have regard to the

quorum requirements as per Rule 3.7.1. If the meeting regains its quorum, decisions may be ratified within the meeting.

## 3.8 Minutes of Meetings

- 3.8.1 In the absence of the Corporate Governance Manager, a colleague nominated by the Chief Executive shall act as secretary to the Board.
- 3.8.2 The Corporate Governance Manager shall record the minutes of every Meeting, to be circulated in draft for approval by the Board.
- 3.8.3 The minutes of a Meeting shall record key points of discussion. They will not attribute comments to specific Board Members, unless this is required by the Board Member concerned or the Chair. Where personnel, finance or other restricted matters are discussed, the minutes shall describe the substance of the discussion in general terms.
- 3.8.4 The minutes of a Meeting shall also record:
  - the names of every Board Member and other person present during any part of the Meeting;
  - the names of Board Members who have tendered apologies for absence;
  - the withdrawal from a Meeting of any Board Member on account of a conflict of interest; and
  - any declaration of interest.
- 3.8.5 The agreed minutes of a Meeting shall be published on the LSB's website, as soon as is reasonably practicable subject to considerations about withholding information in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

#### 4. Delegation of powers

4.1 Paragraph 23 of Schedule 1 to the Act provides generally that:

The Board may authorise:

- the Chair, the Chief Executive or any other Board Member,
- a committee or subcommittee of the Board, or
- a colleague,

to exercise, on behalf of the Board, such of its functions, in such circumstances, as it may determine.

A committee may delegate functions (including functions delegated to the committee) to:

- a subcommittee,
- the Chair, the Chief Executive or any other Board Member, or

a Colleague.

The Board may not delegate any function or duty the Board has to make rules under the Act, other than:

- rules of procedure made in relation to any committee or subcommittee of the Board, and
- rules made by the Board in its capacity as an approved regulator or a licensing authority.
- 4.2 There shall be a schedule of matters reserved to the Board. These are generally matters for which the Board is accountable, through the Act, to Parliament.
- 4.3 The Board remains accountable for all of the LSB's functions and will require regular information about the exercise of delegated functions to enable it to maintain its monitoring role.
- The schedule of matters reserved to the Board does not preclude other matters being referred for decision by the Chair or the Chief Executive to the Board. All powers delegated by the Board can be reassumed and the Board reserves the right to deal with any matters, whether generally or exceptionally, previously delegated. The Board may also vary or revoke such a delegation.
- 4.5 There is delegated from the Board to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and such other committees and subcommittees as might be established from time to time the discharge of those functions that fall within their agreed terms of reference.
- 4.6 All powers of the LSB that have not been:
  - reserved by the Board under paragraph 4.2 of these Rules,
  - delegated to a committee or Subcommittee, or
  - covered by these Rules,

shall be exercised on behalf of the Board by the Chief Executive.

- 4.7 The Chief Executive shall prepare and maintain a scheme of delegations identifying which functions they shall perform personally and which functions they have delegated. All powers delegated by the Chief Executive can be reassumed and the Chief Executive reserves the right to deal with any matters, whether generally or exceptionally, previously delegated. The Chief Executive may also vary or revoke such a delegation.
- 4.8 Powers are delegated to and from the Chief Executive on the understanding that:
  - appropriate expert advice will be sought as necessary and that any costs involved can be met within the authorised budget; and
  - the powers shall not be exercised in a manner that is likely to be a cause for public concern or that might have an effect on the reputation of the LSB.

- 4.9 The Head of Corporate Services shall keep a record of the powers, authorities and discretions delegated by the Board.
- 4.10 In the absence of the Chief Executive, the powers delegated to them may be exercised by the Strategy Director or General Counsel, or a combination of the above, after taking advice as appropriate from the Chair.

#### 5. Conflicts of interest

- 5.1 If a Board Member knowingly has any interest or duty that is (or might reasonably be considered to be) material and relevant, whether direct or indirect and whether pecuniary or not, that, in the opinion of a fair-minded and informed observer would suggest a real possibility of bias in any matter that is brought up for consideration at a Meeting, the Board Member shall disclose at the earliest opportunity the nature of the interest or duty to the Meeting.
- 5.2 If a Board Member has acted in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 5.1 of these Rules and has explained fully the nature of the interest or duty, the Board Members present at the Meeting shall decide whether and to what extent that Board Member should participate in the discussion and the determination of this issue shall be recorded in the minutes of the Meeting. If it is decided that the Board Member should leave the Meeting, the Chair may first allow the Board Member to make a statement about the item under discussion.
- 5.3 Colleagues who are in attendance at a Meeting should declare interests in accordance with the same procedures as for those who are Board Members. Where the Chair rules that a potential conflict of interest exists, any Colleague so concerned should take no part in the discussion of the matter and may be asked by the Chair to leave the meeting.
- 5.4 Board Members and colleagues shall be subject to the the LSB's policy in respect of interests.

## 6. Meetings and proceedings of committees

- 6.1 Paragraphs 20-21 of Schedule 1 to the Act provide that the Board may establish committees and any committee so established may establish subcommittees.
- The Board shall appoint Committee Members (including Committee Chairs). Committees shall appoint Subcommittee Members (including Subcommittee Chairs).
- 6.3 The Board shall agree and may vary or replace the terms of reference for each committee. A committee shall agree and may vary or replace the terms of reference for any subcommittee.
- The terms of reference for committees and subcommittees are subordinate to these Rules, which take precedence.
- The quorum of a committee or subcommittee must not be less than three, including a lay majority.
- The agreed minutes of meetings of committees and subcommittees shall be circulated respectively to the Board and the relevant committee.

- 6.7 Committee Chairs shall present a written report about each meeting of a committee to the next available meeting of the Board.
- 6.8 Committee Chairs shall present to the meeting of the Board that is scheduled to consider and agree the LSB's Annual Report and Accounts for the preceding financial year a written report about the activities of the committee relevant to that financial year.



#### Code of Practice for Board Members and Panel Members

## Scope

1. This Code of Practice applies to all Board Members and Panel Members. All members must adhere to this Code of Practice (or any modification of it agreed by the Board) and act in good faith and in the best interests of the LSB and the Panel.

#### **Public service values**

- 2. Board Members and Panel Members must at all times:
  - comply with the Seven Principles of Public Life, as set out by the Committee on Standards in Public Life (Annex A refers);
  - maintain the highest standards of propriety involving integrity, impartiality and objectivity in relation to the stewardship of public funds and the management of the LSB;
  - maximise value for money by ensuring that the LSB operates in the most economic, effective and efficient way, within available resources, and with independent validation of performance achieved wherever practicable; and
  - be accountable for the activities of the LSB, their stewardship of public funds, and the extent to which key performance targets and objectives have been met to Parliament, the public, other stakeholders and the colleagues.

#### Conduct

- 3. Board Members or Panel Members cautioned for or charged with a criminal offence, other than a parking or speeding offence without aggravating circumstances, must report the matter at the earliest opportunity to the Chair (or, if the Chair is the Board or Panel Member in question, the MoJ).
- 4. Board Members or Panel Members subject to finance-related legal proceedings, or aware of matters relating to conduct that may affect their position or the reputation of the LSB, must report the matter at the earliest opportunity to the Chair (or, if the Chair is the Board or Panel Member in question, to the MoJ).
- 5. Board Members and Panel Members must avoid any action that involves (or may be seen as involving) the exploitation or misuse of their position for private purposes.
- 6. The LSB's Complaints and Disciplinary Procedure for Individual Members applies to complaints against members of the LSB, the OLC and the Panel.

#### Criminal and civil liability

- 7. Paragraph 33 of Schedule 1 to the Act exempts Board Members from liability in damages for anything done or omitted in the exercise or purported exercise of the functions of the Board conferred by or by virtue of any enactment, subject to certain specified exemptions (related to acts or omissions that were in bad faith or were unlawful under section 6(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998).
- 8. A Board Member and Panel Member may be liable for breach of confidence under common law or for infringing provisions of the Data Protection Act 2018 if they misuse information gained by virtue of their position.

## Confidentiality

9. Sections 167-168 of the Act prohibit the disclosure of restricted information (as defined), subject to certain exceptions.

## **Concerns about propriety**

- 10. In accordance with recommendation 53 in the First Report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life (the Nolan Committee), the Chair is entrusted with the duty of investigating a colleague's concerns about propriety raised confidentially. Colleagues are accordingly able to make a complaint at this level without going through the normal management structure. If a colleague remains dissatisfied, they may take the matter to the Permanent Secretary of the MoJ.
- 11. The LSB's Complaints and Disciplinary Procedure for Individual Members sets out the procedure for investigating concerns about the propriety of members of the LSB, the OLC and the Panel.

#### Interests

- 12. Board Members and Panel Members are entitled to manage their own affairs in private. However, the work of the LSB must (and must be seen) to be carried out in an environment that is free from any suggestion of improper influence. Those providing information to the LSB must be confident that it will be handled properly and that conflicts of interests will be identified quickly and handled properly.
- 13. The LSB recognises the input and value of its statutory non-lay Board Members and it is not considered that their status alone represents a conflict of interests.
- 14. The LSB has in place a Policy on Interests, which requires a register of interests to be maintained. This register is published on the LSB's website for Board Members and on the Panel website for Panel Members.

#### **Employment and appointments**

15. While in office, Board Members and Panel Members should have regard to any real or perceived conflicts of interest in relation to the acceptance of employment or appointments. If Board Members or Panel Members wish to take up new employment or appointments during their term of office where real or perceived conflicts of interest may be an issue, they should first discuss details with the Chair.

- 16. On leaving office, and when considering the acceptance of future employment or appointments, Board Members and Panel Members should continue to have regard to conflict issues and should discuss with their Chair if in any doubt.
- 17. Board Members and Panel Members are expected to complete their terms of appointment, notwithstanding special circumstances.

## **Expenses**

18. The LSB has in place a Policy on Reimbursement of Expenses, which requires a register of expenses to be maintained. This register is published on the LSB's website for Board Members and on the Panel's website for Panel Members.

## Gifts and hospitality

19. The LSB has in place a Policy on Gifts and Hospitality, which requires a register of corporate gifts and hospitality to be maintained. This register is published on the LSB's website for Board Members.

#### Public speaking, external events and journalists

- 20. The Chair and the Chief Executive will normally act as spokespersons for the LSB, but other Board Members may also be required, from time to time, to act in this capacity.
- 21. If Board Members attend events or write articles where issues related to the LSB policy may be raised, they should make it clear that their opinions are being offered in a personal capacity and, in any event, they should not express views at variance from agreed LSB policy. Board Members should advise the Corporate Governance Manager about such events or articles.
- 22. In general, Board Members are not restricted from access to the media in their non-LSB capacity, or in pursuit of a professional interest.
- 23. Invitations to attend or to speak at industry or stakeholder events should be referred to the Corporate Governance Manager.

### **Political activities**

24. It would be inappropriate given the LSB's status as independent of government for any Board Member to engage in active politics. This includes: membership of the House of Commons, a devolved assembly or parliament, or the European Parliament; seeking adoption or selection as a candidate or prospective candidate for election to these bodies; membership of local authorities; seeking adoption or selection as a candidate or prospective candidate for election to local authorities, other than parish councils; seeking adoption or selection as a candidate or prospective candidate for election as a Police and Crime Commissioner; and acting as a party spokesman in the House of Lords. Advice on this is available from the Corporate Governance Manager.

#### **Data Protection Act 2018**

25. Board Members consent for all purposes to the holding, accessing and other processing of personal data about them held by the LSB.

#### Freedom of information

26. The LSB is a public authority subject to the Freedom of Information Act (FoIA) 2000. Information held by the LSB might be disclosed in response to a request for information, unless it constitutes exempt information under Part 2 of FoIA 2000.

#### **Exit restrictions**

27. On termination of office, Board Members must return (or destroy where appropriate) all LSB property (including but not limited to documents and software, credit cards, computer equipment, keys and security passes).



## **Scheme of Delegations**

- 1. This scheme of delegations is prepared in accordance with paragraph 4.7 of the Rules of Procedure.
- 2. Subject to paragraph 4.7 of the Rules, where the scheme of delegations requires the exercise of a power to be approved by two or more persons, the majority of those persons must approve the exercise of that power.
- 3. Any requirement to consult in advance of approving or exercising a specific power should be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

## Key:

Committees:

ARAC – Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (Board committee)

RNC – Remuneration and Nomination Committee (Board committee)

SLT – Senior Leadership Team<sup>53</sup>

Individual posts:

CEO - Chief Executive

SD - Strategy Director

PD - Policy Director

DFS - Director of Finance and Services

GC - General Counsel

HCS – Head of Corporate Services

HPDR - Head of Policy Development and Research

RPP – Regulatory Policy Principal

LA – Legal Adviser

HRM – Human Resources Manager

CGM – Corporate Governance Manager

CM - Communications Manager

BPA – Business Planning Associate

## There are two parts to this scheme of delegations:

- Part 1 sets out delegations from the Board to the Chief Executive
- Part 2 sets out delegations from the Chief Executive

In the absence of the Chief Executive (annual leave, sickness absence or unexpected leave), the powers delegated to them may be exercised by a member of senior management nominated by the Chief Executive for such purposes - after taking advice as appropriate from the Chair. The CGM will manage this process, and will keep a record of all delegations exercised in the Chief Executive's absence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The Senior Leadership Team comprises: CEO, SD, PD, DFS, GC, HCS, HPDR, CGM (secretary)

Part 1 - Delegations from Board to Chief Executive

Human resources			
Power	Approver	Contributors	Notes
Agreeing and amending remuneration policies	CEO	RNC, SD, GC, DFS, HCS, HRM and Colleague Forum	Subject to RNC ToR
Agreeing and amending HR contractual terms	CEO and HCS	RNC, SD, GC, DFS, HCS and HRM	Subject to RNC ToR
Agreeing matters in respect of termination, retirement and redundancy	CEO, HCS, relevant SLT member and line manager	RNC, SD, HRM, GC and DFS	Subject to RNC ToR
Convening and agreeing agenda for meetings of the Colleague Forum	CEO and HCS	Colleagues	
Agreeing the senior executive succession plan	CEO	RNC and HCS	
Agreeing the Remuneration strategy	CEO	RNC, HCS and HRM	Subject to RNC ToR

Financial management			
Power	Approver	Contributors	Notes
Financial authority limits			See Finance Regulations
Agreeing Finance Manual	CEO	ARAC, DFS, GC, HCS and CGM	
Agreeing Finance Regulations	CEO	ARAC, DFS, GC, HCS and CGM	

Regulatory activity			
Power	Approver	Contributors	Notes
Agreeing project briefs, PIDs, etc.	SLT	Project Sponsor and Project Manager	
Agreeing to commence an investigation with a view to using enforcement powers; the issuing of s55 notices and actions taken under s56	CEO	SLT and Project Manager	Subject to Statement of Policy – Compliance and Enforcement

Agreeing to recommend the exercise of enforcement powers to the Board	CEO	PD, GC, HCS, RPP and Project Manager	Subject to Statement of Policy – Compliance and Enforcement
Agreeing 'next steps' following Board approval of the exercise of enforcement powers	CEO	SD, PD, GC, HCS, RPP and Project Manager	Significant decisions to be referred to Board
Approving alterations to regulatory arrangements (including requests to be exempted from approval requirements)	CEO	SLT, RPP and Project Manager Relevant Board Members (where the CEO deems the proposed rule changes to be contentious)	The Board has delegated to the Chief Executive authority to determine the handling of rule change applications on a case-by-case basis following an assessment of significance, impact and risk; save that regulatory arrangements related to designation applications are approved by the Board as part of the decision on the designation application.
Approving AR practicing fees	CEO	SLT, RPP and Project Manager	Significant decisions to be referred to the Board
Agreeing to recommend the approval of applications for designation as an AR/LA to the Board	CEO	SLT, RPP and Project Manager	

Miscellaneous				
Power	Approver	Contributors	Notes	
Leadership and operational	CEO			
management of the LSB				
Serving as Accounting Officer	CEO			
Agreeing delegations from CEO	CEO			
Chairing SLT	CEO	SLT		
Agreeing and amending ToR for	CEO	RNC and SLT		
executive groups				

Agreeing and amending Scheme of Delegation	CEO	ARAC and colleagues	
Changing management or control structure	CEO	Chair and RNC	
Agreeing answers to PQs	CEO or relevant SLT member (depending on subject)	SD/PD (depending on subject), GC, HCS, relevant SLT member, Project Sponsor, and Project Manager	
Agreeing formal correspondence etc. to MoJ	CEO or relevant SLT member (depending on subject)	SD/PD (depending on subject), GC, HCS, relevant SLT member, Project Sponsor and Project Manager	
Agreeing formal correspondence etc. to LeO	CEO or relevant SLT member (depending on subject)	PD, GC, HCS, relevant SLT member, Project Sponsor and Project Manager	
Agreeing formal correspondence to the Panel	CEO or relevant SLT member (depending on subject)	SD/PD (depending on subject), GC, HCS, relevant SLT member, Project Sponsor and Project Manager	
Agreeing publication etc. of documents approved in principle by the Board	CEO	SD/PD (depending on subject)/HCS, GC, relevant SLT member, Project Sponsor and Project Manager	
Agreeing responses to external consultations	CEO	SD/PD (depending on subject), HCS, GC, relevant SLT member, Project Sponsor and Project Manager	
Determinations in respect of Fol (s36)	CEO	HCS, CGM and GC/LA	NB The Chair also has delegation from the Minister to determine s36 exemptions
Agreeing decisions in respect of matters subject to legal proceedings	CEO	SD/PD (depending on subject), GC, HCS, relevant SLT member and Project Manager	Significant decisions to be referred to Board

Preparing Board agenda and papers	CEO	SLT	Prior to being dispatched, the Chair may review papers at their discretion.
Preparing Board Committee agenda and papers	CEO	ARAC – DFS and HCS RNC – DFS and HCS	Prior to being dispatched, the Chair may review papers at their discretion.
Agreeing to tender and to sign commercial contracts	CEO	GC, DFS and relevant SLT member	Subject to financial delegations
Agreeing and commissioning research projects	CEO and SD	HPDR, Research Manager and Project Manager	
Commissioning and oversight of external audit activity	CEO	ARAC, DFS and HCS	
Commissioning and oversight of internal audit activity	CEO	DFS, HCS and relevant SLT member	
Affixing of the LSB's Common Seal to appropriate documents	Chair or CEO or their nominee	GC, HCS, CGM	A company seal can only be used with the Board's authority, so there needs to be a Board decision reflected in the minutes of the relevant meeting.  The seal should be fixed in the presence of a witness who can attest that the relevant authorisations have been granted. This will normally be either the GC or the HCS.  Register of execution of the seal to be maintained by the CGM.

Part 2 - Delegations from Chief Executive

Human resources			
Power	Approver	Contributors	Notes
Creating individual posts / determining individual pay grades and salaries	HCS and relevant SLT member	HRM, DFS and line manager (depending on seniority of role)	Subject to RNC ToR
Agreeing and amending individual role descriptions	Relevant SLT member and line manager (depending on seniority of role)	HCS, HRM	Subject to RNC ToR
Agreeing recruitment advertising / use of external agencies	HCS and relevant SLT member	HRM, line manager	
Agreeing recruitment process	HCS, HRM	Line manager	
Shortlisting/interview panels	Line manager	HCS, HRM and relevant SLT member	
Agreeing to appoint	Interview panel and relevant SLT member	HCS, HRM	
Agreeing completion of probation	Line manager	HCS, HRM and relevant SLT member	
Changing individual reporting lines - SLT	CEO	HCS and relevant SLT member	
Changing individual report lines – below SLT level	Relevant SLT member	HCS, HRM	
Approving expenses	Line manager		See Finance Regulations – all payment of expenses is approved by the Finance Director
Agreeing and amending HR policies (not remuneration)	HCS, HRM	RNC and Colleague Forum	Subject to RNC ToR
Health and Safety procedure changes	DFS	CEO, HCS, HRM, Health and Safety Group and colleagues	
Agreeing the Colleague succession plan (below the level of CEO direct reports )	PD, DFS, HCS	SLT and HRM	

General line management	Line manager	Deminos <sup>54</sup> , HCS and HRM	
activities (not covered above or in	-		
HR policies)			
Maintaining HR records	HCS, HRM	DFS	

Power	Approver	Contributors	Notes
Financial authority limits			See Finance Regulations
Budget management	Budget holder	ARAC, DFS, HCS	_
Preparing Annual Report	SD, DFS and HCS	ARAC and SLT	
Preparing Business Plan (including budget)	SD, DFS and HCS	ARAC and SLT	

Miscellaneous			
Power	Approver	Contributors	Notes
Overseeing core regulatory development and approval responsibilities of the LSB	PD	SD, RPP and Project Managers	
Overseeing non-regulatory business (excluding provision of legal advice)	DFS, HCS	Relevant Managers	
Providing legal advice to Board and colleagues	GC	LA	
Agreeing press releases, statements, speeches, articles, website changes and other media and PA activity	SD	PD, Relevant SLT member, Project Manager and CM	See Communications Process Notes
Agreeing formal correspondence etc. to MoJ	SD/PD (depending on subject), Relevant SLT member (depending on subject)	Project Manager	
Agreeing formal correspondence etc. to LeO	PD	HCS, relevant SLT member and Project Manager	

Agreeing formal correspondence to Panel	SD/PD (depending on subject), Relevant SLT member (depending on subject)	Project Manager	
Determinations in respect of DPA and FoI (not s36)	HCS	CGM and GC/LA	
Agreeing corporate policies – DPA, IT, business continuity, communications, etc.	HCS	CGM and GC/LA and colleagues	
Maintaining and reviewing Project Risk Registers	Project Manager	BPA	Subject to Risk Strategy
Maintaining and reviewing Corporate Risk Register	HCS and BPA	ARAC and SLT	Subject to Risk Strategy
Agreeing and commissioning research projects	SD	SLT, HPDR, Research Manager and Project Manager	See Research Strategy
Maintaining and reviewing a performance management framework	HCS	SLT	
Maintaining corporate registers (e.g. G&H, interests, minutes, papers, etc.)	CGM		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> A Human Resources consultancy with which the LSB has an arrangement for the provision of specialist advice and assistance to managers as required.



#### Annex A

## The Seven Principles of Public Life

#### **Selflessness**

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.

## Integrity

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their families or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

## **Objectivity**

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

## **Accountability**

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

#### **Openness**

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.

#### **Honesty**

Holders of public office should be truthful.

#### Leadership

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

For more information, visit: <a href="http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/">http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/</a>



#### Annex B

# Policy on Complaints and Disciplinary Procedure for Individual Members

# **Purpose**

1. This policy sets the disciplinary procedure to be used in the event of a complaint of personal misconduct or impropriety.

## Scope

- 2. This policy applies to complaints about Board Members, OLC Members, or Panel Members (hereafter collectively referred to as 'Individual Members').
- 3. This policy does not apply to colleagues, who are subject to the LSB's internal disciplinary procedures.
- 4. The Lord Chancellor may delegate their functions under these procedures to any person they direct.
- 5. Nothing in this document restricts the powers of the Lord Chancellor in their ability to appoint or terminate individuals to the LSB, as contained in Schedule 1 to the Act.
- This policy will be agreed and where necessary reviewed with the MoJ.

# Procedure for investigating complaints made about Individual Members in their professional capacity

- 7. If a complaint in relation to the conduct of an Individual Member in a professional capacity is made to the relevant professional body, it should be registered immediately with the Chair and declared at the next Board meeting.
- 8. If the complaint is relevant to the work of the Board, the Individual Member should seek advice from the Chair to determine whether a fair-minded and well-informed observer might think there was a real possibility that decisions made by the Board were biased by an individual's presence on the Board or participation in discussions. If the Chair judges that this is a real risk, the member should exclude themselves from discussions that directly relate to the work and disciplinary functions of the relevant approved regulator or work by the LSB that could have a unique effect on the governance arrangements of the approved regulator concerned.
- 9. If the Individual Member receives a formal disciplinary finding against them, they should declare this immediately to the Chair and the Lord Chancellor. A view will be formed on whether paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 of the Act is relevant. If the Individual Member remains on the Board, the fact of the finding should be declared in the register of interests.

10. If the Individual Member chooses to appeal, they should report the matter to the Chair and consideration will be given to whether the Individual Member concerned should voluntarily stand down until the matter is resolved.

## Legal representation

- 11. At any stage of an investigation into allegations made against an Individual Member, the Individual Member is entitled to legal representation. This representation would be at the Individual Member's expense. However, in light of the outcome of the investigation, some or all of such costs can be reimbursed at the discretion of the Accounting Officer. The Individual Member will be reminded of this entitlement to advice at each relevant stage of the procedure.
- 12. If the Individual Member chooses to be legally represented, they must inform the Chair or the Lord Chancellor in writing of the name and address of the legal representative.

# Procedure for investigating alleged breaches of duty in relation to Individual Members other than the Chair

#### A. Preliminary consideration

- 13. On receipt of an allegation of a breach of duty by an Individual Member, the Chair must, having sought such clarification as they think necessary:
  - inform the Individual Member in writing of the details of the allegation and invite them to submit written comments within 14 days, or such other period as may be specified; and
  - notify the Lord Chancellor that they have done so.
- 14. Following consideration of the Individual Member's written comments, if the Chair is satisfied, on the basis of all the information available to them, that the allegation is unfounded, no further action will be taken. The Chair must inform the Individual Member, the Lord Chancellor and the person who made the allegation of their decision.
- 15. If the Chair is satisfied, on the basis of all the information available to them, that a breach of duty may have occurred, they must immediately write to the Individual Member concerned:
  - stating that the allegation will be investigated;
  - enclosing a copy of these procedures;
  - setting a date for the individual to meet the Chair (preferably within 14 days from receipt of the letter); and
  - informing the individual of their entitlement to be accompanied or legally represented at the meeting and at any subsequent stages of the investigation.

#### B. Meeting with the Chair of the Legal Services Board

- 16. The Chair of the LSB will meet the Individual Member concerned to discuss the alleged breach of duty and the Chair will then decide the appropriate course of action to be taken.
- 17. The Individual Member may be accompanied or legally represented at the meeting by a person of their choosing.
- 18. After the meeting, the LSB Chair, having regard to all relevant factors, including the outcome of any further investigation they may consider necessary, will submit a report to the Lord Chancellor in which they may recommend that the Lord Chancellor should take one or more of the following courses of action:
  - dismiss the allegation;
  - direct further investigation of the allegation;
  - suspend the individual's appointment to the LSB pending further investigation;
  - terminate the individual's appointment to the LSB; and
  - direct such other action as the Chair considers necessary.
- 19. If the Lord Chancellor suspends the non-executive Individual Member's appointment, they may direct whether such suspension is to be with or without remuneration.
- 20. If the LSB member's appointment is to be terminated, the Lord Chancellor will consult the Lord Chief Justice before doing so.
- 21. The Individual Member must be informed in writing without delay of the Lord Chancellor's decision.

# C. Further investigation

- 22. If the Lord Chancellor directs further investigation, they may appoint a person of their choosing as Investigating Officer. The Investigating Officer may be an official of the MoJ or any other person at the Lord Chancellor's discretion.
- 23. Subject to the LSB's Policy on Whistleblowing, the Investigating Officer may seek any further evidence and interview any person, as they consider necessary.
- 24. The Investigating Officer must report their findings of fact to the Individual Member concerned and invite comments within 14 days, or such other period as may be specified.
- 25. At the conclusion of the investigation, the Investigating Officer will report their findings together with the Individual Member's comments, if any, to the Lord Chancellor. The Investigating Officer may also make recommendations to the Lord Chancellor.

## D. Notification of decision

26. After consideration of the Investigating Officer's report, and any recommendations and of any comments made by the Individual Member, the Lord Chancellor will determine the matter.

- 27. The Lord Chancellor's decision must be communicated to the Chair and Individual Member either in person or in writing at the earliest opportunity. If the decision is communicated in person, it must be confirmed in writing.
- 28. At the conclusion of the investigation, the Lord Chancellor may publicly announce their final decision. Any such announcement would normally be brought to the attention of the Office of the Commissioner for Public Appointments.

# Investigations relating to the Chair

- 29. Any allegation of a breach of duty by the Chair should be made to the Lord Chancellor via the MoJ.
- 30. The Lord Chancellor will inform the Chair of the allegation as soon as possible.
- 31. Any investigation relating to the Chair of the LSB will be carried out by the Lord Chancellor, or on the Lord Chancellor's behalf.
- 32. The procedures set out in this document will apply, save that references to the Chair in the conduct of the investigation will be substituted by 'the Lord Chancellor' or any person they direct.



# **Policy on Interests**

#### **Purpose**

1. This Policy ensures that the work of LSB is, and is seen to be, carried out in an environment that is free from any suggestion of improper influence and that those providing information to LSB are confident that it will be handled properly and that conflicts of interests will be identified quickly and handled properly.

#### Scope

 This Policy applies to LSB Board Members, OLC Board Members, Panel Members, full time and part time employees on full or short-term contracts, and to others working with the LSB, including secondees, agency contractors and others employed under a contract of service (hereafter collectively referred to as 'individuals').

## **General principles**

- 3. The LSB is committed to:
  - ensuring that no individual is involved in taking a decision or participates in a discussion about a matter in which they have a conflict of interest;
  - ensuring that those providing information to LSB can be confident that it will be handled properly; and
  - avoiding any impression that any colleague has used their relationship with LSB to their personal advantage.
- 4. Individuals should avoid situations in which their duties and private interests might conflict and should ensure that, before they become involved in taking a decision or participating in a discussion, there are no conflicts of interest that, in the opinion of a fair-minded and informed observer, would suggest a real possibility of bias.
- Individuals must not use or disclose confidential information that comes into their
  possession in the course of their LSB duties in order to benefit themselves or any other
  person. For guidance on handling price sensitive information, individuals are referred to
  the LSB's policy on this subject.
- 6. A Board Member should consult the Chair before accepting a new appointment which may lead to a conflict of interest. Executive colleagues should consult the Chief Executive.
- 7. Individuals are responsible for their own compliance with this Policy and with the law.

#### Interests that should be registered

- 8. In the interests of accountability and transparency, individuals are required to register formally those interests that might conflict with their duties.
- 9. A Register of Interests will be maintained by the Corporate Governance Manager. Individuals are responsible for keeping up-to-date their entries in the Register and should notify the Corporate Governance Manager about necessary changes. The Register in respect of Board Members' interests is published on LSB's website.
- 10. The Corporate Governance Manager will confirm at least annually that individuals have registered any relevant interests.
- 11. Individuals should register the following interests:
  - Relevant Securities that are not placed in a Blind Trust (see paragraph 12 below);
  - remunerated employment, office or profession other than LSB;
  - other regular sources of remuneration;
  - directorships, whether remunerated or not;
  - membership of public bodies (e.g. governing bodies of schools), trusteeships (of
    museums, galleries and similar bodies) and appointments as an office holder or
    trustee of a pressure group, trade union or voluntary or not-for-profit organisation;
    and
  - in the case of Board Members and members of the SLT, membership of a registered political party.
- 12. 'Relevant Securities' means any financial interest (shares, debt securities, options, rights or future rights to shares or other securities, but not including units in a unit trust or equivalent managed fund) in companies having an interest in the legal professions in England and Wales held by themselves, their spouses or dependent children that are not placed in a Blind Trust. 'Blind Trust' means an arrangement by which a colleague gives a stockbroker or other professional investment manager absolute discretion to manage investments in Relevant Securities and under which that colleague:
  - is not consulted before any dealing takes place;
  - does not instruct the investment manager with regard to any specific securities; and
  - is not informed of changes in specific investments or the state of the portfolio other than in an aggregated form or as required for tax returns.

#### **Disclosing other interests**

13. An individual might from time-to-time have or become aware of interests that do not have to be registered, but which might nonetheless conflict with their LSB duties. As well as keeping up-to-date their entry on the Register, they must disclose such interests as soon as possible (e.g. on receipt of the agenda for a Board meeting) to the Corporate Governance Manager.

- 14. Such interests must be disclosed whether or not they are entered on the Register.
- 15. The minutes of any Board or Committee meeting shall record any declaration of interest and the withdrawal from a meeting on account of a conflict of interest.
- 16. When considering whether to disclose such interests, colleagues should ask whether, in the opinion of a fair-minded and informed observer, the interest would suggest a real possibility of bias or conflict on that colleague's part. As a general guide, colleagues should consider whether they have, or recently had:
  - any material financial, beneficial or pecuniary relationships with a stakeholder within the past two years;
  - any other relationships with another party, the existence of which might suggest a real possibility of bias on their part;
  - they have taken a public position that might be seen as compromising their ability to deal objectively with a matter that is relevant to LSB; or
  - in the opinion of a fair-minded and informed observer, the interests of close family members would suggest a real possibility of bias.
- 17. The presumption should always be in favour of declaring any interest that could be relevant to the performance of the functions of a colleague.

#### **Procedures for handling interests**

- 18. In the event that a colleague receives a paper about a matter in which they have a conflict of interest, they must immediately return the paper to the Head of Corporate Services, with an indication of the extent to which the paper has been read.
- 19. The Rules of Procedure provide that:
  - '5.1 If a Board Member knowingly has any interest or duty that is (or might reasonably be considered to be) material and relevant, whether direct or indirect and whether pecuniary or not, that, in the opinion of a fair-minded and informed observer would suggest a real possibility of bias in any matter that is brought up for consideration at a Meeting, the Board Member shall disclose at the earliest opportunity the nature of the interest or duty to the Meeting.
  - 5.2 If a Board Member has acted in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 5.1 of these Rules and has explained fully the nature of the interest or duty, the Board Members present at the Meeting will decide whether and to what extent that Board Member should participate in the discussion and the determination of this issue will be recorded in the minutes of the Meeting. If it is decided that the Board Member should leave the Meeting, the Chair may first allow the Board Member to make a statement about the item under discussion.
  - 5.3 Colleagues who are in attendance at a Meeting should declare interests in accordance with the same procedures as for those who are Board Members. Where the Chair rules that a potential conflict of interest exists, any colleague so concerned should take no part in the discussion of the matter and may be asked by the Chair to leave the meeting.'

20. Before trading Relevant Securities or exercising options, a Board Member should disclose his intention to trade to the Chair, giving at least 24 hours' notice. Colleagues should disclose their intention to trade to the Chief Executive. The Head of Corporate Services will record the disclosure of the intention to trade by any colleague.



## **Policy on Reimbursement of Expenses**

#### **Purpose**

1. This Policy sets out the responsibilities when claiming reimbursement of expenses.

#### Scope

2. This Policy applies to LSB Board Members, OLC Members, Panel Members, full time and part time employees on full or short-term contracts, and to others working with the LSB, including secondees, agency contractors and others employed under a contract of service (hereafter collectively referred to as 'individuals').

#### **Expenses claims**

- 3. The LSB operates an electronic system of claim authorisation. To avoid rejection of claims at the formal approval stage, individuals are requested to summarise their claim on a LSB colleague expenses form and together with supporting receipts pass these to their line manager (or, in the case of Board and Panel Members, the Corporate Governance Manager) to confirm that the claim is in order and within the expenses policy guidelines.
- 4. Individuals can then either enter their own claims onto the Focal Point System or request that one of the administrative assistants enter this on their behalf. All forms and receipts should be scanned and uploaded to Focal Point as documents attached to the claim.
- 5. Focal Point will issue an automatic email to the colleague's line manager (or, in the case of Board and Panel Members, the Head of Corporate Services), asking them to view the expense claim and if appropriate to approve it for payment.
- 6. All claims for expenses must be supported by appropriate receipts or vouchers (credit card slips alone are not accepted as receipts).
- 7. In the case of colleague travel claims, approval to travel must be authorised by the line manager <u>before</u> tickets are purchased. Travel should be business critical, and approved only when video / telephone conferencing is not a viable alternative).
- 8. Claims will not normally be approved in respect of expenses incurred more than three months before the date of the claim but may be paid at the discretion of the line manager (or, in the case of Board and Panel Members, the Corporate Governance Manager).
- 9. HM Revenue and Customs ('HMRC') requires receipts to be submitted in respect of all claims for expenses (including travel). This explicitly includes receipts for travel on public transport, including claims for journeys on a pay as you go London Transport oyster card). HMRC has granted a concession for parking paid by telephone, but only if it is impossible to obtain a receipt.

- 10. Individuals should seek guidance before incurring high levels of expenditure or expenditure on items which are not mentioned in the policy.
- 11. Travel and subsistence expenses may be claimed at the rates set out at the Annex to this policy. The Annex may be re-issued, from time-to-time, to reflect alterations in the rates that will be paid, subject to the approval of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee.

#### Items that can be claimed

#### **Allowances**

12. The general principle is that nothing may be reimbursed beyond actual expenditure reasonably incurred on the necessary business of the LSB.

#### Train

- 13. In line with wider public sector policy, the LSB will reimburse individuals for travelling by train on journeys incurred wholly, exclusively and necessarily in the course of their duties, and individuals should make sure they obtain the best value they can. In this regard, all colleagues should be aware of the following:
  - Individuals will normally only be reimbursed for standard class travel.
  - Any individuals with a disability may request approval to travel first class travel as
    part of reasonable adjustments to carrying out their duties, but approval must be
    obtained in advance of the journey. (A 'standard permission' may be granted
    depending on the nature of the adjustment required). The Corporate Governance
    Manager should be contacted in the first instance to discuss the request and they will
    advise the appropriate mechanism for obtaining approval to travel first class in these
    circumstances.
  - Individuals who wish to travel first class at their own expense (i.e. are content to pay the first class supplement as part of the original ticket rather than a separate payment), and claim the standard fare for the journey, are required to submit their tickets, as well as written confirmation of the cost of the equivalent standard class journeys (such as a screen shot from the booking page). In determining the cost of the equivalent standard class journeys, the same discounts, such as gold card, senior or young person's rail card should be applied at the same time as the first class ticket was purchased. Individuals will be reimbursed at the standard rate, provided that this is less than the cost of the first class ticket purchased.
- 14. It is expected that tickets would normally be purchased in advance, as this generally provides better value for money. Individuals should use the corporate credit card and make their own travel arrangements or request the help of an administrative assistant.

# Air

15. In the rare event that an individual needs to travel by air, it should normally be by economy class. For colleagues with disability issues, the same approval should be sought as set out in paragraph 12.

- 16. Within the UK, air travel should be used only when it is cost effective (for example cheaper than by train), or where the time saving is sufficient to justify any extra expense over road and rail travel.
- 17. If you are considering travel by air, the Corporate Governance Manager should be contacted in the first instance.

#### **Taxis**

- 18. Taxis may be used where there is no other public transport available or when they are more cost effective than other forms of transport.
- 19. Taxis may also be used for short journeys with heavy luggage or where several colleagues are travelling together to the same meeting.
- 20. Individuals who have to work on LSB business after 22:00 may take a taxi to their usual mainline railway or London Underground station or may take a taxi directly to their usual home address (or hotel if they are away from home on LSB business) where this is necessary to ensure a safe journey home.
- 21. Claims for taxi fares should be supported by receipts (which, in the case of evening journeys permitted under paragraph 19, should include date and time stamping). All taxi drivers should produce a receipt if requested.

## Car Mileage

- 22. Car mileage for business journeys may be claimed at the rate set out at the Annex to this policy, subject to it being more cost effective to travel by car rather than by public transport or there being no suitable public transport available.
- 23. In order to use a private car the person making the claim must have confirmed that they have an appropriate endorsement in their insurance policy for 'business use' and that a copy of this policy is provided to the LSB for inspection each year.

#### Meals

24. Subsistence expenses (based on actual receipts) will be paid to or on behalf of colleagues performing business away from their normal place of work for a period of at least five hours during which they have purchased one meal, or a period of at least ten hours during which they have purchased one or two meals. Subsistence expenses will be paid for late evening meals.

#### **Overview and Review**

- 25. Abuse of this policy, including the submission of false claims, may be subject to disciplinary action, including dismissal.
- 26. This policy does not form part of any colleague's contract of employment and the LSB can change this policy from time to time.

## **Current Rates of Travelling and Subsistence**

This Annex may be re-issued, from time to time, to reflect any alterations in the rates paid.

#### 1. Travel

a) By car: rates *per mile*: (in a tax year)

First 10,000 miles 45pOver 10,000 miles 25p

b) Motorcycle allowance: 24p per mile

#### 2. Subsistence (based on actual receipts)

## a) Day

One meal 5 hour rate<sup>55</sup> - up to £5 Two meal 10 hour rate<sup>56</sup> - up to £10 Late evening meal rate<sup>57</sup> - up to £15

## b) Night Subsistence per night

In the event that it is necessary, to fulfil LSB business, to stay overnight in a hotel, authority must be obtained in advance from a member of the Senior Leadership Team (or, in the case of Board or Panel Members, the Corporate Governance Manager).

#### Hotels in London

Actual expenditure up to a ceiling of £120 for bed and breakfast costs plus if away for at least 24 hours up to £21 for lunch and evening meal unless this is provided.

#### Hotels elsewhere

Actual expenditure up to a ceiling of £100 for bed and breakfast costs plus if away for at least 24 hours up to £21 for lunch and evening meal unless this is provided.

#### 3. Overseas travel and subsistence

If a colleague is required to travel overseas on LSB business, reimbursement will be made for meals and accommodation on a 'reasonable charge' basis, which should be discussed in advance with the Corporate Governance Manager, and agreed by the Chief Executive as Accounting Officer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> One meal (5 hour) rate – The rate may be paid where a person has been undertaking qualifying travel (i.e. travel and business away from their normal place of work for which a claim for subsistence would be paid) for a period of at least 5 hours and has incurred the cost of a meal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Two meal (10 hour) rate – The rate may be paid where a person has been undertaking qualifying travel (i.e. travel and business away from their normal place of work for which a claim for subsistence would be paid) for a period of at least 10 hours and has incurred the cost of a meal or meals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> The rate may be paid where the employee has to work later than usual, finishes work after 8pm having worked their normal day and has to buy a meal before the qualifying journey ends which they would usually have at home.



## **Policy on Gifts and Hospitality**

#### **Purpose**

 This Policy sets out the responsibilities when offering or receiving corporate gifts and/or hospitality.

## Scope

2. This Policy applies to Board Members, OLC Board Members, Panel Members, full time and part time employees on full or short-term contracts, and to others working with the LSB, including secondees, agency contractors and others employed under a contract of service (hereafter collectively referred to as 'individuals').

#### **General Principles**

- Individuals generally will not be in a situation that requires them to offer or to receive corporate gifts and/or hospitality. However, these guidelines are intended to assist individuals to:
  - act with propriety;
  - avoid any conflict of interest with their LSB duties and private interests; and
  - know what they may and may not offer or receive.
- 4. Hospitality may take various forms, from the provision of tea and coffee at meetings attended by individuals, to large formal receptions or dinners. The same general principles apply in every case.
- 5. However, when individuals do offer or receive corporate gifts and/or hospitality, they must not do anything that might undermine, or be reasonably thought to undermine, the independence or impartiality of the LSB.
  - Individuals and their spouses or partners should refuse to accept corporate gifts and/or hospitality that could influence, or be reasonably thought to influence, the professional advice and/or decisions of colleagues or that could, or be reasonably thought to place, them under an obligation to the donor, compromise their impartiality or otherwise be improper.
  - If a corporate gift is to be refused, this should be done politely and with an explanation that colleagues are not permitted to receive gifts or hospitality of the value offered. Unsolicited gifts should be returned with an explanation of LSB policy, except where refusal would clearly cause misunderstanding or offence. In this case, the gift should only be accepted after consultation with the Corporate Governance Manager and a letter should be sent saying that the gift has been accepted on behalf of LSB, not by the individual.

- The offering or receipt of corporate gifts (up to the value of £25) and/or hospitality is acceptable within reasonable grounds, provided that it is a normal and appropriate expression of business courtesy. It is the responsibility of colleagues to decide if the corporate gift and/or hospitality is conventional and normal and reasonable in the circumstances. If in doubt, colleagues should consult the Corporate Governance Manager.
- Individuals should enter into reciprocal entertaining arrangements only where this is a normal and appropriate expression of business courtesy.
- 6. The following principles apply to invitations from external organisations to functions:
  - Event-based hospitality that allows individuals to meet stakeholders, and might shape or promote the LSB's work, is generally acceptable. For example, going to an industry awards dinner where it is important that a representative of the LSB is present.
  - Work-related hospitality from a single stakeholder is acceptable, provided that it can clearly be seen to be of value to LSB's work. For example, working lunches, dinners or the reimbursement of necessary hotel or other accommodation costs.
  - Individuals should avoid corporate hospitality that benefits themselves personally if
    it is difficult to justify as being of benefit to the LSB, or if there is potential for
    undermining the integrity of the LSB and its work. For example, tickets to sporting
    events or the theatre.
  - Reference should be made to the LSB's anti-corruption and bribery policy for practical guidance on the types of gifts or hospitality that may or may not be acceptable.

## Gift and hospitality register

- 7. All offered or received corporate gifts and/or hospitality with a value on the open market of approximately £10 or above must be reported as soon as possible to the Corporate Governance Manager, who will record the gift and/or hospitality on LSB's published Gifts and Hospitality Register. The monetary value of any corporate hospitality provided by LSB should be included in the declaration.
- 8. Gifts of more than £10 and up to £25 may be retained, subject to the consent of the Chief Executive or their direct report, and the Corporate Governance Manager will be advised of this.
- Corporate hospitality includes working lunches etc. at the offices of other organisations. Working lunches etc. provided at LSB premises or by the LSB at LSB events need not be reported or registered.
- 10. The report of the corporate hospitality must include the name of each person attending and the reason for the hospitality. The LSB may require this information to prove that no tax is payable.



## **Policy on Internal Whistleblowing**

#### **Purpose**

1. This Policy sets out the procedure colleagues should follow when raising concerns about malpractice within the LSB to allow the LSB to investigate.

## Scope

2. This policy applies to full time and part time employees on full or short-term contracts, and to others working with the LSB, including secondees, agency contractors and others employed under a contract of service (hereafter collectively referred to as 'colleagues').

#### Introduction

- The LSB is committed to good governance and wants to create an environment in which all colleagues understand their responsibilities and in which management is accountable for its actions.
- 4. The LSB recognises that colleagues are often the first to realise that there may be something wrong within the organisation, so colleagues are encouraged to raise genuine concerns about malpractice (unprofessional or illegal behaviour) at the earliest possible stage rather than wait for proof. This is known as "whistleblowing".
- 5. The LSB will investigate any concerns raised under this policy responsibly and in an environment where colleagues can raise genuine concerns without fear of reprisals. As long as the colleague is acting in good faith, it does not matter if they are mistaken. This whistleblowing procedure also aims to balance the need to protect colleagues who raise genuine concerns about malpractice against the need to protect other colleagues and the organisation against false allegations that can cause serious difficulties for innocent individuals.
- 6. This policy is not intended to deal with complaints or grievances about a colleague's personal employment situation. Concerns of this sort should be raised under the Grievance policy and procedure in the LSB Colleague Handbook of Policies. If a concern relates to both policies (whistleblowing and grievance) or if there is uncertainty over which procedure to follow, the matter should be raised under the whistleblowing policy first. Any colleague who is unsure about which policy to use should contact the General Counsel for guidance.

#### **Examples of malpractice**

- 7. The following are examples of malpractice:
  - Fraud or financial irregularity.
  - Corruption, bribery or blackmail.
  - Criminal offences.
  - Failure to comply with a legal or regulatory obligation.
  - Miscarriage of justice.
  - Endangering the health and safety of others.
  - Endangering the environment.
  - Improper use of authority.
  - Serious financial misconduct.
  - Covering up any of the above.

#### Procedure for raising concerns

- 8. Any colleague (described in this procedure as the "**Discloser**") who has reasonable grounds to believe that malpractice has happened, is happening or is likely to happen within the LSB (whether it involves a colleague or any other person or people as named in paragraph 2) and who wishes to report his or her concerns should follow the procedure set out below.
- 9. Reports of malpractice should be disclosed as soon as possible and in confidence (stating the reasons for believing that there is or will be malpractice) to the General Counsel or (exceptionally) the Head of Corporate Services, both of whom are authorised by the LSB as having appropriate experience and standing to handle such issues, and each of whom is described in this procedure as the "Designated Officer".
- 10. The Discloser can also raise the matter with the Chief Executive or Chair if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Designated Officers named in the policy are or were involved in the suspected malpractice. Exceptionally, the Discloser may instead contact the LSB's Senior Independent Director, Michael Smyth<sup>58</sup>.
- 11. Disclosures may be made anonymously, and all efforts will be made to investigate any such allegations. This may, however, prove difficult, not least where any substantiated allegations made could lead to disciplinary action against another colleague.
- 12. The disclosure should ideally be made in writing and the Discloser should provide as much supporting evidence as possible about the disclosure and the grounds for the belief that malpractice has taken place or will take place.
- 13. The disclosure, however, need not be made in writing for the Designated Officer to initiate their investigation. If the disclosure is made verbally then the Designated Officer should meet informally with the Discloser, prior to the formal investigation interview. The

Designated Officer must produce a note of this informal meeting, which confirms that the disclosure was made under this procedure, gives full details of the allegations together with full details of any available evidence. A copy of this note must be provided to the Discloser.

- 14. If the Discloser has any personal interest in the matter, this should be declared when raising the concern.
- 15. When they receive the written/verbal disclosure, the Designated Officer must offer to formally interview the Discloser in confidence as soon as possible after the initial disclosure.
- 16. The Discloser can be accompanied by a work colleague at the interview.
- 17. As soon as possible after this interview, the Designated Officer will recommend what to do next, and his or her recommendations may include one or more of the following:
  - reporting the matter to the police;
  - investigating the matter further internally or passing it on to external auditors or investigators appointed by the LSB (the discloser should be informed of the timescales within which such investigation would be completed);
  - giving the Discloser the opportunity to settle the matter through the LSB's Grievance Procedure or Disciplinary Procedure, if appropriate.
- 18. In contrast, the Designated Officer may recommend that no further action be taken if they:
  - are satisfied after his or her own investigation that there has not been, and is not likely to be, any malpractice:
  - know that the matter is already part of legal proceedings, or has already been referred to the police or some other public authority;
  - know that the matter is already (or has already been) the subject of proceedings under one of the LSB's other procedures;
  - are satisfied that the Discloser does not reasonably believe that malpractice within the meaning of this procedure has happened, is happening or is likely to happen; or
  - are satisfied that the Discloser is not acting in good faith.
- 19. The Designated Officer will make any recommendations under this procedure to the Chief Executive unless the Chief Executive is suspected of being involved in the reported malpractice. If this is the case, the Designated Officer will make his or her recommendations to the Chair. Either way, the Discloser will not be identified, except in the situations outlined in Protection of Identity below.
- 20. The Chief Executive or Chair, as appropriate, will act on the Designated Officer's recommendations unless they feel there are good reasons for not doing so.
- 21. The Designated Officer will tell the Discloser what steps will be taken (although it may not be possible to give specific details of the action taken because doing so might break

- duties of confidentiality to others) or give the reasons for deciding not to take the matter any further.
- 22. If the Discloser is not satisfied with what the Designated Officer has told them (under paragraph 21) then:
  - if the Chair has not so far been involved, the Discloser should raise the matter with the Chair, who will investigate the matter, decide on the appropriate course of action, and then will inform the Discloser of this decision, which decision will be final.
  - if the Chair has already been involved in the matter, the Discloser should refer it to the Chair of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee of the LSB. The Chair will, together with the Senior Independent Director and one other non-executive LSB Board member, investigate the matter, decide on the appropriate course of action, and then inform the Discloser of this decision, which decision will be final.
- 23. If the procedure set out in paragraphs 9 to 22 above has been followed in full and the Discloser is still not satisfied, then the matter can be raised confidentially with the Permanent Secretary at the MoJ.

## **Protection of Identity**

- 24. Where possible, the Discloser will not be identified unless:
  - the Discloser agrees in writing; or
  - there is reason to believe that the accusations of malpractice were made deliberately in order to cause trouble.
- 25. If neither in paragraph 24 applies, the Discloser will only be identified:
  - if this is a legal obligation;
  - if the information is already in the public domain;
  - to an authorised person<sup>59</sup> to get legal advice; or
  - if it is necessary as part of a proper investigation.
- 26. Although the LSB will do everything possible to avoid identifying the Discloser, there will be some circumstances in which other people will be able to guess his or her identify, and, therefore, confidentiality cannot be guaranteed.
- 27. Any documents (including computer files and disks) relating to this matter will be kept secure, in order to ensure that, as far as possible, any documents prepared under this procedure will not reveal the Discloser's identity.
- 28. If the Discloser involves a work colleague, the Discloser will have a responsibility to do everything possible to make sure that this colleague keeps this matter strictly confidential, unless the matter:
  - can be discussed under this procedure;

- must be revealed by law; or
- becomes public knowledge.
- 29. During an investigation into a disclosure, every effort will also be made to protect colleagues and / or other persons cited within a disclosure ("**the Accused**"), and therefore steps will be taken which will include:
  - not identifying those concerned before any investigation of the disclosure has been completed, except where there is a legal obligation to do so, or to a professionally qualified lawyer to get legal advice or unless not identifying them would be prejudicial to the investigation;
  - in some cases, moving the Accused from the area of work concerned whilst the investigation is being carried out.

## **Protection against victimisation**

- 30. Any colleague who makes a disclosure of wrongdoing or malpractice in good faith, will be treated with respect and will be afforded protection against victimisation.
- 31. Anyone who victimises the Discloser, will be subject to the LSB's disciplinary procedure.

#### False/unfounded accusations

- 32. Colleagues will not usually face any disciplinary action because of any concerns they raise under this procedure. However, this will not prevent the LSB from bringing disciplinary action against the Discloser if there are grounds to believe that the Discloser:
  - deliberately made false accusations to cause trouble or for personal gain.
- 33. A disclosure will not be protected if the Discloser commits an offence by making the disclosure, for example, an offence under the Official Secrets Act 1989. In addition, in making a disclosure, the Discloser should be mindful of the contents of the LSB's policies on data protection and must avoid disclosing personal data relating to a third party who is unconnected to this disclosure and has not given their consent to such disclosure.
- 34. Where the Discloser makes allegations in good faith, that turn out to be unfounded, they will not be penalised for being genuinely mistaken.

## Independent advice

35. If a colleague is not sure whether to use this procedure or wants independent advice at any stage, they can contact the independent charity "Public Concern at Work" (telephone 020 3117252, or visit their website at <a href="https://www.pcaw.org.uk">www.pcaw.org.uk</a>).

# Overview and review

36. This policy does not form part of a colleague's contract of employment and the LSB can change this policy at any time.

 $<sup>^{58}</sup>$  Contactable on Michael.Smyth@legalservicesboard.org.uk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Section 18(1)(a) Legal Services Act: "For the purposes of this Act "authorised person", in relation to an activity ("the relevant activity") which is a reserved legal activity, means a person who is authorised to carry on the relevant activity.



#### **Policy on Handling External Allegations**

## **Purpose**

- 1. This Policy provides a framework for anyone who is not an employee of the LSB to make an allegation of fraud or corruption (or to express a concern about possible fraud or corruption) related to members of the LSB's Board, and/or colleagues, Panel Members or OLC Members whilst acting in those capacities and to set out the procedures which will be adopted by the LSB in investigating an allegation or expression of concern. It is not about instigating a criminal or civil claim against the LSB as a body.
- 2. For the purposes of this policy, both an allegation of fraud or corruption and an expression of concern about fraud or corruption are referred to as 'an allegation'.

## Scope - who is this for?

Any person who is not employed by the LSB may make an allegation under the policy, provided the subject matter falls within the scope of the policy.

Scope - subject matter of the allegation

- 4. The policy covers allegations about the way in which an individual or individuals employed by the LSB or appointed to the Board or the Panel or a contractor to the LSB has or have acted or omitted to act, in so far as the allegations relate to:
  - fraud; and/or
  - corruption; and/or
  - other serious misbehaviour falling short of the standards expected of public officials as identified in the LSB's own terms of employment and appointment.
- 5. Fraud is any false representation by means of a statement or conduct made knowingly or recklessly in order to gain material advantage.
- 6. Corruption relates to any improper influencing of persons including any activity that might fall within the provisions of the Bribery Act 2010.
- 7. These descriptions are not comprehensive and in the event of doubt, any suspicion of improper behaviour should be reported to the LSB (see paragraphs 9 to 12 below).

#### Scope - subject of the allegation

8. The policy is related to the acts or omissions of individuals acting within or ostensibly within the scope of their employment or appointment with the LSB.

#### Making an allegation

- 9. An allegation should be made in writing by letter or email to:
  - the LSB's Chief Executive addressed to:

Chief Executive Legal Services Board One Kemble Street London, WC2B 4AD

Email: neil.buckley@legalservicesboard.org.uk

- the Senior Independent Director they can be contacted at the LSB's address, as above
- the Chair of the Board, if the allegation relates to the Chief Executive.
- 10. The allegation must contain the name and address of the informant and a daytime telephone contact number.

#### Acknowledgement of an allegation

11. The LSB will immediately acknowledge safe receipt of an allegation.

# Initial examination of an allegation

- 12. On receipt of an allegation:
  - The LSB's General Counsel<sup>60</sup> will examine the allegation to determine whether it falls within the scope of the policy.
  - If it does, the LSB's Chief Executive will determine the appropriate arrangements for investigating the allegation, including responsibility for handling, logging and storing information.
  - If the allegation does not fall within the scope of the policy, the LSB will notify the person who raised the concern and give their decision along with supporting reasons.
  - If it is the case that there is insufficient information to determine whether the
    allegation falls within the scope of the policy, or to investigate the matter, the
    General Counsel will request further information from the person who raised the
    concern. If such information is not received within a reasonable period from the date
    of the request, and it is not possible to progress the investigation otherwise, the
    allegation would be treated as withdrawn.

## Investigation of an allegation by the LSB

- 13. The LSB's Chief Executive will appoint as an investigating officer a senior member of staff who has had no prior involvement with the event or circumstances to which the allegation relates. Usually this will be the Head of Corporate Services.
- 14. The investigation will be conducted expeditiously and in accordance with the principles of natural justice.

- 15. The investigation will be concluded as soon as is reasonably practicable. The informant will be notified as to how long the investigation is likely to take, and will be provided with updates at reasonable intervals as to its progress.
- 16. The informant will be notified, in writing, of the outcome of the investigation, unless the LSB decides to refer the allegation to the police or other authorities for their consideration or investigation, in which event the LSB will inform the informant accordingly.
- 17. If the informant is dissatisfied with the outcome of the investigation, they have the right to refer the matter to the Chair of the Board, or to the Permanent Secretary at the MoJ, if the Chair is implicated in the allegation.

# Reporting

18. For governance oversight purposes, allegations made under this policy, and the outcome of any investigation, will be reported to the next available meeting of the LSB's Audit and Risk Assurance Committee.

# Variation of the policy

19. The LSB may from time to time vary the provisions of this policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> As long as the LSB's General Counsel has no prior involvement with the event or circumstances to which the allegation relates (in which case another senior member of staff with no prior involvement will be appointed).